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LICENSEE:

The inspection was an examination of the activities conducted under your license as they relate to radiation safety and to compliance with the Nuclear
Regulatory commission (NRC) rules and regulations and the conditions of your license. The inspection consisted of selective examinations of
procegures and representative records, interviews with personnel, and observations by the inspector. The inspection findings are as follows:

‘f Based on the inspection findings, no violations were identified.

- Previous violation(s) closed.

2

5 The violations(s). specifically described to you by the inspector as non-cited violations, are not being cited because they were self-identified,
I~ non-repetitive, and corrective action was or is being taken, and the remaining criteria in the NRC Enforcement Policy, to exercise

discretion, were satisfied.

Non-cited violation(s) were discussed involving the following requirement(s):

[~ 4  During this inspection, certain of your activities, as described below and/or attached, were in violation of NRC requirements and are being
..l cited in accordance with NRC Enforcement Palicy. This form is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION, which may be subject to posting in accordance
with 10 CFR 19.11.
(Violations and Corrective Actions)

Statement of Corrective Actions

| hereby state that, within 30 days, the actions described by me to the Inspector will be taken to correct the violations identified. This statement of
corrective actions is made in accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective steps already taken, corrective steps which will be taken,
date when full compliance will be achieved). | understand that no further written response to NRC will be required, unless specifically requested.
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87131 3.01-3.08
SUPPLEMENTAL INSPECTION INFORMATION

1. PROGRAM CODE(S) 2. PRIORITY 3. LICENSEE CONTACT 4. TELEPHONE NUMBER
02120 3 George Cyriac, MD - RSO (573) 582-5000

Main Office Inspection Next Inspection Date: 06/2018

[ ] Field Office Inspection

(:] Temporary Job Site Inspection

PROGRAM SCOPE

This was a routine inspection of a 49 bed hospital with authorization to use byproduct material permitted under 10 CFR
35.100, 35.200 and 35.300. The licensee's nuclear medicine department was staffed by one full-time nuclear medicine
technologist who administered approximately 25 diagnostic doses per month for cardiac, gastric emptying, and bone
scans. The technologist had also conducted approximately two administrations of I-131 in capsule form per year.
Patient procedures are performed all business days with the exception of Wednesday. The licensee obtained unit doses
from Mid-America Nuclear Pharmacy and did not use bulk doses or molybdenum/technetium generators. They will be
switching to GE Nuclear Pharmacy in the near future.

PERFORMANCE OBSERVATIONS

The inspectors observed the nuclear medicine technologist demonstrate package receipt and surveying procedures,
daily dose calibrator constancy checks, daily surveys, and waste disposal procedures. The inspectors then confirmed the
performance of these activities by reviewing the records since the previous inspection. The licensee contracted
Associates in Medical Physics, LLC to perform quarterly program audits and equipment calibrations. These activities
were confirmed by review of the physicist's reports.

The technologist demonstrated adequate knowledge of emergency procedures in the event of a spill, or hot package
through interview with the inspectors. All material was adequately labeled and secured in the hot lab, which remained
closed and locked when not under the surveillance of authorized personnel.

The inspectors reviewed the written directives and supporting documentation for all of the 1-131 administrations since
the previous inspection. The administrations were completed in accordance with regulatory requirements and the

licensee's procedures.

No violations were identified during this inspection.
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